United Nations Diplomatic Conference of Plenipotentiaries
on the Establishment of an International Criminal Court

Rome, Italy
15 June - 17 July 1998

Document:-
A/CONF.183/C.1/SR.10

10th meeting of the Committee of the Whole

Extract from VVolume Il of the Official Records of the United Nations Diplomatic
Conference of Plenipotentiaries on the Establishment of an International
Criminal Court (Summary records of the plenary meetings and of the
meetings of the Committee of the Whole)

Copyright © United Nations



Summary records of the meetings of the Commiittee of the Whole

130. The proprio motu proposal thus risked routinely drawing
the Prosecutor into making difficult public policy decisions
which he or she was neither well equipped nor inclined to make.
Such initial public policy decisions would be best made
elsewhere, freeing the Prosecutor to deal for the most part with
the law and the facts.

131. Ms, Chatoor (Trinidad and Tobago) said that her delegation
could in principle support the role of the Prosecutor in triggering
the jurisdiction of the Court, and was flexible on the language
in article 12. It was prepared to work with others on articles 12
and 13 in order to reach consensus. The checks and balances
proposed in article 13 would provide a good basis for discussion.

132. The trigger mechanism should not be restricted to States
parties only. That might not be in the interests of justice in the
long run.

133. Mr. Gevorgian (Russian Federation) said that, if the
Prosecutor was given direct power to initiate investigations,
proprio motu, both the Prosecutor and the Court would become
politicized.

134, Mr. van Boven (Netherlands) said that an ex officio role
for the Prosecutor was essential if the Court was to be a viable
institution. The Prosecutor should have the full use of all sources
of information, from governmental and non-govemmental sources
as well as from victims’ associations. As the representative of
Ireland had said, victims must be given a voice. It was up to

the Prosecutor to assess the pertinence and credibility of the
information and his delegation was confident that the Prosecutor
would act responsibly. On that basis, he or she would decide
whether there were reasonable grounds for proceeding with an
investigation,

135. His delegation also supported the idea of giving the
Pre-Trial Chamber a role in exercising judicial review and
authorizing the initiation of the investigation.

136. Mr. Stigen (Norway) said that his delegation supported
ex officio and proprio motu powers for the Prosecutor to trigger
the Court’s intervention. The exercise of those powers should
be based on reliable information from any source. A qualified
and independent Prosecutor would be the best insurance against
politicized action by the Court, and should be able to deal with
criticism in relation to the setting of priorities when there were
many possible cases.

137. The Norwegian delegation nevertheless appreciated the
doubts expressed by some delegations and believed that the
proposed checks and balances, including the provisions regarding
the Pre-Trial Chamber and the election of the Prosecutor and
other rules, addressed those concerns. Norway supported the
proposals of Germany and Argentina; it supported the principle
of article 12, with the use of the word “may”, and was happy
with the wording of article 13.

The meeting rose at 1 p.m.

10th meeting
Monday, 22 June 1998, at 3.15 p.m.
Chairman: Mr. Kirsch (Canada)

Agenda item 11 (continued)

Consideration of the question concerning the finalization
and adoption of a convention on the establishment of an
international criminal court in accordance with General
Assembly resolutions 51/207 of 17 December 1996 and
52/160 of 15 December 1997 (A/CONF.183/2/Add.1 and
Corr.1 and A/CONF.183/C.1/L.7)

DRAFT STATUTE

PART 2. JURISDICTION, ADMISSIBILITY AND APPLICABLE
LAW (continued)

JURISDICTION: THE ROLE OF THE PROSECUTOR
(continued)

Article 6. [Exercise of jurisdiction] [Preconditions to the
exercise of jurisdiction] (continued)

[Article 12). Prosecutor (continued)

A/CONF.183/C.1/SR.10

[Article 13]. Information submitted to the Prosecutor
(continued)

1.  Mr. Politi (Italy) said that Italy had always been in favour
of giving the Prosecutor the authority to initiate investigations
ex officio on the basis of information obtained from any source.
His delegation supported the bracketed subparagraph (b) in the
text for article 6 proposed in the “Further option for articles 6,
7, 10 and 117, as well as the text of article 12. In regard to
the latter, it favoured the following formulation for the first
sentence: “The Prosecutor may initiate investigations proprio
moty or on the basis of information obtained from any source,
in particular from Governments, United Nations organs and
intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations.” The
second sentence would remain as drafted.

2.  With regard to article 13, his preference was for an
independent prosecutor who would not require specific
authorization in order fo initiate investigations. At the same

203



Summary records of the meetings of the Committee of the Whole

time, he realized that a number of delegations were concerned
that all possible guarantees should be provided against any
improper use by the Prosecutor of the powers conferred on
him or her, and could therefore accept the establishment of a
mechanism of scrutiny on the basis of the proposals reflected
in draft article 13.

3. Mr. Rwelamira (South Affica), speaking on behalf of the
Southern African Development Community (SADC) and of his
own delegation, said that he wished to associate himself with
those who had spoken in favour of the inherent jurisdiction of
the International Criminal Court with regard to core crimes. The
independence of the Prosecutor was critical to the effectiveness
of the Court, and neither his delegation nor the SADC countries
would like to see a situation in which the Prosecutor was
dictated to either by individual States or by the Security
Council.

4. Since the Prosecutor was a critical part of the trigger
mechanism under the draft Statute, his or her role should be
strengthened as much as possible, and he therefore supported
the proposed article 6 in the “Further option for articles 6, 7, 10
and 11”. Concerning article 12, he supported the view that the
Prosecutor should be able to initiate investigations on the basis
of information obtained from any source. In order to preserve
the Prosecutor’s independence, he would prefer the word “may”
to be used in the article rather than the word “shall”. In general,
he would support removal of the brackets contained in the text.

5. Although his preference was for an independent prosecutor,
he could accept the general content of the proposed article 13 in
the light of the concerns expressed by others. Use of the Pre-
Trial Chamber as a screening or filtering mechanism could allay
some of the fears expressed, as well as provide a guarantce
against unsubstantiated or frivolous complaints. However, he
would like to have further discussion on the article before he
took a firm position.

6. Mr. Bello (Nigeria) said that the system of checks
and balances which article 13 was intended to provide was
inadequate. Under article 12, the Prosecutor was granted powers
so enormous as to make that office a law unto itself. Moreover,
those vast powers would invite complaints and ultimately make
the Prosecutor ineffective. Nigeria therefore believed that
articles 12 and 13, as well as the bracketed subparagraph () in
article 6 in the “Further option for articles 6, 7, 10 and 117,
should be deleted.

7.  Mr.Manongi (United Republic of Tanzania) said it was
very important that the Prosecutor be given an ex officio role
if the universal regime of human rights protection was to
be strengthened rather than weakened. His delegation could
therefore accept that the Prosecutor be empowered to initiate
investigations proprio motu.

8. However, he agreed with earlier speakers that the powers
granted to the Prosecutor under article 12 needed to be qualified

204

by the provisions proposed in draft article 13, whereby prior
authorization by a pre-trial chamber would be required before
an investigation could proceed.

9. Ms. Li Yanduan (China) said that her delegation did not
agree that the Prosecutor should be given powers of investigation
ex officio. It therefore proposed that article 6, paragraph 1 (c), as
well as articles 12 and 13, should be deleted.

10. Mr. Vergne Saboia (Brazil) said that his delegation believed
that the Prosecutor should be given powers to bring matters
before the Court, and was therefore in favour of retaining
article 6, paragraph 1 (c), or a similar wording. On the other
hand, the Prosecutor should also be able to initiate investigations
on the basis of information from a variety of sources, as
indicated in article 12. Those powers should be subject to
certain safeguards, and in that context he supported the system
proposed in- article 13, in particular regarding the role of the Pre-
Trial Chamber. In his view, that issue was also related to the
question of admissibility.

11. Mr. Skibsted (Denmark) said his delegation, too, believed
that the Prosecutor should have powers of investigation ex officio.
The text as drafted provided sufficient safeguards. The Prosecutor
would have to decide that there was sufficient basis on which to
proceed, and that evaluation would have to be approved by the
Pre-Trial Chamber. The qualifications of the Prosecutor would
have to be the same as those of the judges, and it was essential
to ensure that the procedures for selecting members of the Court
and for appointing the Prosecutor had the confidence of the
world community.

12. The fact that the crimes to be tried by the Court were to be
limited to the most serious offences should make it easier to
agree on the prosecution of the offenders and allow the Court to
become an effective instrument.

13. Mr. Imbiki (Madagascar) said that if the Court was to
be effective and credible it was important that the Prosecutor
be made independent, and not subject to the authority of
the Security Council. He or she would nevertheless not be
immune from political pressures, which was why Madagascar
agreed that any investigation launched should have the prior
authorization of the Pre-Trial Chamber.

14. The Prosecutor would be required to initiate an investigation
of a complaint brought by the Security Council or a State party;
provision would have to be made to ensure that, should he or
she refuse to act, the complainant could bring the matter to

appeal.

15. Mr. Kaul (Gemmany) said Germany believed that in order
to ensure the mdependence of the Prosecutor it was vital to give
him or her the power to initiate investigations ex officio, since
otherwise prosecutions could only be brought if a State party or
the Security Council referred a situation to the Court. Giving
the Prosecutor the power to act proprio motu would have the
advantage of depoliticizing the process of initiating investigations.



Summary records of the meetings of the Committee of the Whele

16. Atticle 13 of the draft Statute reflected a proposal submitted

jointly by Germany and Argentina. In response to the concems
expressed by a number of delegations, it would subject the
Prosecutor to a form of judicial control when initiating
investigations ex officio.

17. Mr. Saland (Sweden) said his delegation did not wish the
Court to be a mere tool of the Security Council; it should be
truly effective, and the Prosecutor should be given an ex officio
role. He fully supported the formula for judicial review
contained in article 13, which would not only be a safeguard
against frivolous complaints, but would also protect the
Prosecutor from undue political pressure.

18. It was the duty of the Court at all stages of the proceedings
to satisfy itself not only that it had jurisdiction in a particular
case, but also that the case was admissible, and in that
connection he agreed that lack of sufficient gravity should be
a ground for inadmissibility.

19. Ms. Blokar (Slovenia) said that she supported the
Prosecutor’s right to trigger the Court mechanism and to initiate
investigations ex officio. She therefore supported the bracketed
subparagraph (b) of article 6 in the “Further option for articles 6,
7,10 and 117,

20. She also supported article 12, with the deletion of the
brackets around the words “and intergovernmental and non-
governmental organizations”, and the deletion of the last
sentence. In response to those who had expressed the view that
the Prosecutor should not have an ex officio or proprio motu
role, she drew attention to article 43, paragraph 3, which
stipulated that the Prosecutor was to be a person of high moral
character, highly competent and have extensive practical
experience.

21. Mr. Kessel (Canada) endorsed the views of those who
favoured a prosecutor empowered to initiate proceedings
ex officio based on information from all sources. Articles 12
and 13 provided sufficient safeguards in that respect, and he
could not see how giving the Prosecutor the independence he or
she needed could undermine the concept of complementarity.

22. Ms. Hertz (Chile) said Chile had always believed that, if
the Court was to be effective, the Prosecutor should be given
powers to initiate investigations ex officio on the basis of
reliable information. She could accept the wording proposed
for article 6, and was in general agreement with the text of
article 13, which should provide sufficient guarantees to satisfy
both States parties and world opinion.

23. Mr. Khalid Bin Ali Abdullah Al-Khalifa (Bahrain) said
his delegation believed that the Prosecutor should not take
action on his or her own initiative, and that the role he or she
should play should be subject to clear limits. The sources of
information used had to be limited too, so that information
would be accurate and credible. The expression “any source”
in article 12 should be eliminated, as well as the mention of

different sources. The Prosecutor’s role should be subject to
judicial control at all stages.

24. Mr. Minoves Triquell (Andorra) said that the Prosecutor’s
independent role was very important where heinous crimes
were concerned. Articles 12 and 13 should be retained, as well
as paragraph 1 (¢) in article 6 (first version).

25. Ms. Daskalopoulou-Livada (Greece) said her delegation
believed that the Prosecutor should be given powers to
prosecute ex officio, since otherwise the bulk of the crimes
which warranted intemational action would go uninvestigated
and unpunished.

26. The precedent established by the ad hoc Tribunals for
the Former Yugoslavia and Rwanda militated in favour of
such ex officio powers, and she accordingly favoured retention
of article 6 (first version), paragraph 1 (c), or the bracketed
subparagraph (b) of article 6 in the “Further option for articles 6,
7, 10 and 11”. She also supported article 12, and could accept
the idea embodied in article 13, provided that the Prosecutor
was given the option of reintroducing a request if new evidence
became available.

27. Ms. Diop (Senegal) supported the view expressed by
earlier speakers that a strong, independent Prosecutor empowered
to obtain information ex officio was crucial if the Court was to
be effective. She therefore favoured the variant contained in
article 6 (first version), paragraph 1 (c).

28. She could accept the text proposed for article 12, provided
that an alternative was found for the expression “from any
source” in the first sentence. Not all sources of information were
equally credible. She fully supported article 13; prior authorization
by a pre-trial chamber would act as a safeguard against any
abuses on the part of the Prosecutor.

29. Mr. Dhanbri (Tunisia) said that his country had some
misgivings as to the powers being granted to the Prosecutor in
the draft proposed. His delegation believed that action should
only be initiated on the basis of a complaint submitted by a
State.

30. Mr.Kerma (Algeria) said that the role assigned to the
Prosecutor in the draft text posed certain problems in regard to
the principle of complementarity. His delegation was opposed
to granting the Prosecutor powers to initiate investigations
ex officio. Such investigations could in any case only proceed
subject to the approval of the Pre-Trial Chamber, and he
considered that article 12 should either be deleted or completely
redrafted.

31. Mr. Gouliyev (Azerbaijan) supported the functions for
the Prosecutor defined i article 12, and favoured deletion of the
brackets around “and intergovernmental and non-govemmental
organizations”. The brackets in article 13 should also be deleted.
The crime of aggression should be included in the list of crimes
within the jurisdiction of the Court contained in article 5.

205



Summary records of the meetings of the Committee of the Whole

32, Mr. Choi Tae-hyun (Republic of Korea) said his delegation
agreed with previous speakers that the Prosecutor should have
ex officio powers of investigation, with no restriction on sources
of information. He endorsed the content of article 13, but
considered that it should provide specifically for the possibility
of a prosecutor abusing his or her powers.

33. Mr. Caflisch (Switzerland) said that his delegation attached
great importance to the Prosecutor being empowered to obtain
information ex officio as provided for in the bracketed sub-
paragraph (b) of article 6 in the “Further option for articles 6, 7,
10 and 117, and in article 12. Switzerland also supported the
concept of control by the Pre-Trial Chamber contained in
article 13.

34. Mr. Aghetomey (Togo) said that if the Court was to be
effective the Prosecutor should be enabled to play his or her role
to the full, and to bring before the Court situations that had
come to his or her attention by whatever means, provided
that there was sufficient information on which to base the
prosecution.

35. In order to dispel the concems expressed, there should be
a system of safeguards to prevent the Prosecutor from being
subject to undesirable influences. The provisions of article 6
(first version), paragraph 1 (c), and of articles 12 and 13 should
therefore be retained.

36. Mr. Dabor (Sierra Leone) said the Prosecutor should be
empowered to initiate investigations proprio motu on the
basis of information received from victims, intergovernmental
organizations or non-governmental organizations. However,
those powers should be subject to the safeguards provided for in
article 13. In the first line of article 12, the word “may” should
be used in preference to the word “shall” in order to give the
Prosecutor discretion not to investigate frivolous complaints.

37. Mr. Giiney (Turkey) agreed with earlier speakers that to
give an ex officio role to the Prosecutor would have adverse
effects on the principle of complementarity. To extend the
Prosecutor’s powers unduly might lead to a deluge of
complaints of a political nature which could reduce his or her
effectiveness.

38. Mr.Matsuda (Japan) said that allowing the Prosecutor
to launch investigations ex officio would upset the balance
between States parties and the Court by making the latter a kind
of “supra-structure” with authority over States. In his view,
complaints by States parties and referrals by the Security
Council should adequately cover all serious crimes of inter-
national concern. If the Prosecutor was pressured into taking up
a case by outside influences, the credibility of the Prosecutor
and of the Court could be jeopardized.

39. Mr. Al Awadi (United Arab Emirates) agreed that to give
the Prosecutor an ex officio role could be dangerous: the role of
initiating action belonged solely to States. His delegation did not
support article 12 and could not accept article 6 (first version),

paragraph 1 (c).

206

40. Mr. Mahmood (Pakistan) supported that position. However,
once a State had initiated proceedings, the Prosecutor should be
given full independence in conducting the investigation.

41. Mr. da Costa Lobo (Portugal) considered that the
effectiveness and credibility of the Court would depend on the
Prosecutor having ex officio powers to initiate investigations.

42. Mr. Kam (Burkina Faso) said that he, too, favoured
empowering the Prosecutor to initiate proceedings as provided
for in article 6 (first version), paragraph 1 (c), and m article 12.
That would enable an independent prosecutor with a purely
judicial role to act in cases where States or the Security Council
might block investigations because of the political interests at
stake. The Prosecutor’s powers should nevertheless be subject
to control by the Pre-Trial Chamber.

43. Ms. Vega Pérez (Peru) endorsed that view, and supported
the joint proposal of Germany and Argentina contained in
article 13.

44. Mr. Pérez Otermin (Uruguay) considered that the risks
of granting the Prosecutor ex officio competence were greater
than the benefits, for the reasons already advanced by other
speakers.

45. Mr.Huaraka (Namibia) said that his country favoured
an effective court and an independent prosecutor. It had been
argued that a “rogue” prosecutor could emerge, but that was
unlikely in view of the qualifications required for the office. It
was important to have an effective, independent court, bearing
in mind experience during the cold war. His delegation
favoured retention of the relevant provisions of the draft.

46. Ms. Frankowska (Poland) supported articles 12 and 13.

47. Ms. Tasneem (Bangladesh) said that, although the system
of checks and balances provided by the provisions regarding the
Pre-Trial Chamber offered some assurances against abuses by
the Prosecutor, she was opposed to having so much power
vested in a single individual. The composition of the Pre-Trial
Chamber should be representative both in terms of equitable
geographical distribution and in terms of the major international
legal systems.

JURISDICTION: THE ROLE OF THE SECURITY COUNCIL

Atrticle 6. [Exercise of jurisdiction] {Preconditions to the
exercise of jurisdiction] (continued)

[Article 10]. [[Action by] [Role of] the Security Council]
[Relationship between the Security Council and the
International Criminal Court) (continued)

48. The Chairman invited comments on the role of the
Security Council.

49. Mr. Kourula (Finland), acting as Coordinator, drew
attention in particular to the two options given for article 10,
paragraph 7. Under option 1, no prosecution could be



Summary records of the meetings of the Committee of the Whaole

commenced arising from a situation being dealt with by the
Security Council, unless the latter decided otherwise. Under
option 2, which reflected a Singaporean/Canadian proposal, the
Court could proceed with a prosecution after a period of time
unless requested not to do so by a vote of the Security Council.
There had also been proposals from the United Kingdom and

Belgium.

50. Mr.Molnir (Hungary), referring to article 13, proposed
that a mention of “intergovernmental organizations” should be
added in the second sentence of paragraph 1.

51. Inregard to the Security Council, his delegation supported
the Singaporean/Canadian proposal, possibly with the amendments
proposed by the United Kingdom and Belgium.

52. Mr. Gonzilez Gilvez (Mexico) noted that the Conference
was taking place at a time when the United Nations was
discussing a number of proposals for reform of the Security
Council; those discussions were relevant to the present debate.
The Conference should not repeat the mistake made at San
Francisco by tying the new Court to the organs of the United
Nations, like the International Court of Justice. The Security
Council would be one source of information for the new Court
regarding the existence of situations involving aggression, but
not the only one. However, the Council, or rather the United
Nations as a whole, would have a role in ensuring that the new
Court’s decisions were implemented.

53. Mr. Labhiri (India) said that the Court was an independent
judicial body, not a political forum. The Security Council’s
powers and responsibilities were already provided for in the
Charter of the United Nations, and could not be subtracted from
or added to by the Statute of the Court. If the intention was to
add to the Security Council’s powers through the Court, it must
be bome in mind that the Court, unlike the Council, had no role
whatsoever in the maintenance of international peace and
security. Moreover, a large majority of States Members of the
United Nations considered that the structure of the Security
Council was unrepresentative,

54. It had been suggested that a Security Council referral
should create a “green channel” in which the safeguards
provided under articles 6, 7 and 9 could be dispensed with, but it
should be pointed out that a single veto by one of the five
veto-holding members of the Council would be sufficient to
block such a referral. India was completely opposed to such
a discriminatory arrangement.

55. Ms. Blokar (Slovenia) said that as she saw it the Security
Council, as the main international organ responsible for
international peace and security, should have the power to refer
situations to the Prosecutor. That should eliminate the need
for ad hoc tribunals. She therefore supported the second
subparagraph (b) of article 6 in the “Further option for articles 6,
7,10 and 117,

56. Consideration of a matter by the Security Council should
not prevent the Court from acting since, whereas the functions

of the Council were political, those of the International Criminal
Court, like those of the International Court of Justice, were
purely judicial. As a compromise, her delegation could accept
the provision contained in paragraph 1 of article 10 in the
“Further option”; the second sentence of that paragraph was
particularly important. She could go along with paragraph 2,
despite doubts regarding the time-frame involved and the clause
concerning renewal.

57. She supported the Belgian proposal regarding the
preservation of evidence.

58. Mr. Saland (Sweden) said that he had no problem with
the second subparagraph (b) of article 6 in the “Further option”,
provided that the Security Council was acting under Chapter VII
of the Charter of the United Nations. He could accept article 10
of the “Further option” if the wording in square brackets in
paragraph 2 was retained.

59. Mr. Shariat Bagheri (Islamic Republic of Iran) recalled
the recent statement adopted by the States members of the
Movement of Non-Aligned Countries at Cartagena de Indias.
The Security Council’s responsibilities under the Charter of the
United Nations should not limit the role of the Court as a
judicial body. The Court should be empowered to pronounce on
acts of aggression independently if the Council failed to perform
its role within a certain period of time, and it should be able
to decide on the responsibility of an individual for an act of
aggression freely, without political influence.

60. M. Stigen (Norway) supported Security Council referrals
of situations, as opposed to cases, to the Court, and welcomed
the relevant provisions of articles 6 and 10 in the “Further
option for articles 6, 7, 10 and 11”. The formula in article 10,
paragraph 2, was satisfactory, and the Belgian suggestion to
include language providing for preservation of evidence in that
connection in document A/CONF.183/C.1/1..7 was attractive.

61. The Statute should include a reference to the power of the
Security Council to create ad hoc tribunals. In general, he had
no fear that a Security Council role would lead to political
interference with the independence of the Court.

62. Mr. Nyasulu (Malawi) said it was clear that the Security
Council should be among those entities empowered to refer
situations to the Court, thus obviating the need for the creation
of ad hoc tribunals. That would not mean that the Council
would have any control over the action taken by the Court. The
second subparagraph (b) of article 6 in the “Further option”
covered that notion and was to be preferred.

63. He supported the subsequent articles of the “Further
option”. Should those texts not be acceptable, however, the first
versions of articles 6 and 10 would have to be considered.
Paragraph 1 of article 10 might not be necessary if agreement
was reached on the relevant provisions of article 6. Paragraphs 2
and 3 were procedural and seemed unnecessary. On the
remainder of the article, a compromise was needed, but it
should be recognized that there was no incompatibility between

207



Summary records of the meetings of the Committee of the Whole

the role of the Security Council under Chapter VII of the
Charter of the United Nations and the functions of the Court.
For paragraph 7, he suggested wording to the effect that no
prosecution could be commenced when the Security Council
had so requested, that such a request was not to be interpreted as
affecting the Court’s independence, and that the Court could
proceed if the Council took no action within a reasonable time.

64. Mr. Wouters (Belgium), introducing his delegation’s
proposal (A/CONF.183/C.1/L.7), said that Belgium favoured
the texts for articles 6 and 10 contained in the “Further option
for articles 6, 7, 10 and 11”. The Belgian proposal was for an
addition to paragraph 2 to take into account the risk that relevant
evidence might disappear during the period in which
investigation and prosecution were suspended. The Prosecutor
would be authorized in such situations to take measures to
preserve evidence,

65. Mr. Sadi (Jordan) said that it was not clear to him why
the Security Council should be singled out, in preference to
other United Nations organs, as authorized to make referrals to
the Court. Nor did he understand why the Council would need
to request the suspension of an investigation for as long as
12 months. The Court should not become a mere appendage to
the Council.

66. Mr. Kessel (Canada) said he saw the role of the Security
Council vis-a-vis the Court as a positive one, which would
increase the Court’s effectiveness and avoid the need for the
continual creation of ad hoc tribunals to deal with specific
situations. He agreed that there could be a time limit for the
suspension of the Court’s work, but the role of the Security
Couril in stopping wars and thus saving lives must be taken
into account. The draft contained sufficient safeguards to protect
the Court’s independence.

67. Mr. Taib (Morocco) feared that political decisions taken
by the Security Council might unduly influence the Court’s
decisions or hinder its action. The Council’s role should be
limited to referrals of situations involving acts of aggression.

68. Mr. Dfaz Paniagua (Costa Rica) said it must be
acknowledged that the Security Council had a responsibility
under the Charter of the United Nations for the maintenance of
intemnational peace and security. To avoid conflict, the role of
the Council must be coordinated with the role of the Court in
such a way that the latter’s independence was guaranteed.
Referrals by the Council to the Prosecutor should only be made
under Chapter VII of the Charter, and the square brackets in the
second subparagraph (b) of article 6 in the “Further option for
articles 6, 7, 10 and 11” should be deleted. He agreed with
the representative of Jordan that a twelve-month period of
suspension of an investigation was too long. In any event, a
request for such a suspension should only be made following a
formal resolution on the part of the Security Council. He fully
supported the Belgian proposal.

208

69. He agreed with earlier speakers that the Charter did not
give the Security Council a monopoly in determining that an act
of aggression had been committed. That could be determined
by the victim State, the General Assembly or the Court. He
therefore could not support paragraph 1 of article 10 in the
“Further option”.

70. Mr. Kaul (Germany) supported the inclusion of the
second subparagraph (b) of article 6 in the “Further option”. He
also supported article 10, including the material in square
brackets in paragraph 2, and the addition proposed by Belgium
(A/CONF.183/C.1/L.7).

71. Mr. A. Domingos (Angola) said that, in the case of any
conflict of competence, there was a need to ensure objectivity
and credibility, and that could be done through the mechanism
of prior authorization by the Pre-Trial Chamber. Articles 12
and 13 offered a good basis for agreement in that respect.

72. Mr. Al-Jabry (Oman) said that, if article 12 was retained,
he would like to see changes made in the text to curb the powers
of the Prosecutor to initiate action ex officio. To ensure the
Court’s independence, the role of the Security Council should
be limited to referrals in cases of aggression.

73. Mr. Onwonga (Kenya) said he was prepared to consider
proposals that would strike a balance between the independence
of the Court on the one hand and the proper role of the Security
Council on the other. The proposed article 10 in the “Further
option for articles 6, 7, 10 and 11” would serve as a useful
starting point in that regard.

74. Mr. da Costa Lobo (Portugal) felt that the Security
Council had a role to play within the area of its security
responsibilities. Article 10 in the “Further option”, with the
Belgian amendment, would satisfy his concerns.

75. Mr. van Boven (Netherlands), referring to the proposals
in the “Further option”, said that he approved the provision
allowing referral of a situation by the Security Council, which
would institutionalize an already existing practice with regard to
the situation in the former Yugoslavia and Rwanda. Paragraph 2
of article 10 should be worded positively, to the effect that an
investigation or prosecution could be commenced or proceeded
with unless the Security Council had requested suspension. It
was also unclear up to what point the Security Council could
intervene. It was essential to retain the reference to Chapter VII
of the Charter of the United Nations. He fully supported the
Belgian amendment.

76. Lastly, if the Conference decided to include the crime of
aggression in the Statute of the Court, the role of the Security
Council as defined in paragraph 1 of article 10 seemed to him
essential.

77. Ms. Shahen (Libyan Arab Jamahiriya) supported the
views expressed by Mexico and India. To give the Security
Council, which was a political body, the right to trigger action



Summary records of the meetings of the Committee of the Whele

would destroy confidence in the impartiality and independence
of the Court, and thus detract from its credibility. Such an
arrangement would enable the permanent members of the
Security Council to make the Court a tool for putting pressure
considered that all references to the Security Council should be
deleted from the draft Statute.

78. Mr. Salinas (Chile) said he supported the provision
allowing the Security Council, under Chapter VII of the Charter
of the United Nations, to refer to the Prosecutor situations which
constituted a threat to peace and security, provided it had
adopted a resolution to that effect. However, the Security
Council should not be authorized to refer to the Prosecutor
situations under Chapter VI of the Charter, as provided for in
draft article 10, paragraph 3.

79. The problem of how to reconcile the independence of the
Court with the freedom of the Security Council to take action if
faced with a political crisis or a threat to peace was a difficult
and sensitive one. It would be necessary to try to ensure that the
Security Council acted strictly in accordance with its mandate
under the Charter.

80. Mr. Rodriguez Cedeiio (Venezuela) said that it was
quite legitimate for the Security Council to submit to the Court
situations related to matters that fell within its competence.
However, his delegation could not support the proposed
provisions that would allow the Council to impose conditions
on the Court.

81. Mr. Janda (Czech Republic) said that the Security
Council should be able to bring situations to the attention of the
Court, and that the Court should not be able to consider an act of
aggression unless the Security Council had first determined
that such an act had been committed. Regarding the suspension
of proceedings, he could accept the wording of article 10,
paragraph 2, in the “Further option for articles 6, 7, 10 and 117,
with the addition proposed by Belgium, provided that all
brackets in the text were removed.

82. Mr. Bello (Nigeria) said that the Court should be free of
all outside influence; however, there was no escaping the fact
that the Security Council had a role under Chapter VII of the
Charter of the United Nations. He could accept the text of the
second subparagraph (b) of article 6 in the “Further option for
articles 6, 7, 10 and 117, without the square brackets.

83. However, the provisions proposed in article 10 in the
“Further option” would be a travesty of justice. If the Security
Council had jurisdiction to determine whether or not an act of
aggression had been committed, the Court’s hands would be
tied, whatever was said about its independence not being
affected. Moreover, how could aggression on the part of one of
the permanent members of the Security Council be referred to
the Court if that member could veto such a referral? If it was the
Conference’s aspiration to create a free, fair and independent
Court, the proposed article 10 should be rejected.

84. Ms. Li Ting (China) said that her delegation could not
accept the provisions allowing the Prosecutor to initiate action
ex officio; article 6 (first version), paragraph 1 (c), should be
deleted.

85. It was essential that the Security Council be empowered
to refer cases to the Court, since otherwise it might have to
establish a succession of ad hoc tribunals in order to discharge
its mandate under the Charter. The Security Council should also
have the power to determine whether acts of aggression had
been committed. The operations of the Court should not impede
the Council in carrying out its important responsibilities for
maintaining peace and security.

86. Mr. Skibsted (Denmark) said that the Security Council
should be competent to refer situations to the Court, but should
not interfere with its proceedings in any other way. The Council
had exclusive responsibility for determining the existence of an
act of aggression, but only the Court could decide whether the
crime of aggression had been committed by an individual. The
role given to the Council in the Statute meant that the crime of
aggression must inevitably become one of the core crimes to be
dealt with by the Court.

87. Mr. Vergne Saboia (Brazil) said that while he favoured
an independent Court he believed there should be a functional
relationship between it and other organs of the United Nations.
He therefore supported the view that the Security Council
should be empowered to refer situations to the Court, acting
under Chapter VII, and possibly also under Chapter VI, of the
Charter of the United Nations.

88. A decision by the Security Council to halt a prosecution
by the Court should only be taken following a formal decision
under Chapter VII and for a limited period of time. He
therefore favoured either paragraph 7, option 2, in the first
version of article 10, or the draft for article 10 in the “Further
option for articles 6, 7, 10 and 117, provided that those two
points were preserved. He supported the Belgian proposal
(A/CONF.183/C.1/L.7).

89. Ms. Mekhemar (Egypt) urged that the Security Council’s
role should be kept within narrow limits to avoid politicizing the
Court. The Council should be empowered to trigger the Court’s
action only when acting under Chapter VII of the Charter of
the United Nations; the final decision would be taken by the
Court. As she understood Article 39 of the Charter, the role of
maintaining peace and security did not belong only to the
Security Council, but also to other United Nations bodies,
notably the General Assembly.

90. Concerning article 10, she rejected the idea that the
Security Council should be permitted to impose restrictions on
the Court. While the Council should have the right to deal
initially with some matters, it should be empowered to prevent
the Court from dealing with them only for a limited, non-
renewable period.

209



Summary records of the meetings of the Committee of the Whole

91. Ms. Wong (New Zealand) supported the view that it
needed to be made clear in the text that the Security Council
could only prevent Court action by adopting a formal and
specific resolution. With that clarification and the inclusion of a
specific time limit, she could accept article 10 in the “Further
option for articles 6, 7, 10 and 117,

92. Mr. Politj (Italy) said that he, too, favoured enabling the
Security Council to refer situations to the Court, to obviate the
need for establishing new ad hoc tribunals whenever one or
more of the core crimes appeared to have been committed. He
preferred the formulation used in the second subparagraph (b)
of article 6 in the “Further option”. The text of article 10,
paragraph 1, in that option was acceptable to his delegation.

93. The issue of the Security Council’s power to block
intervention by the Court was a delicate one, and it was
important to provide guarantees that the Court’s action would
not be indefinitely impeded or gravely prejudiced. Any request
for deferral of an investigation should be made only following a
formal decision by the Council, and be confined to a specific
period of time, with limited possibility of renewal. He, too,
supported the Belgian proposal regarding the Prosecutor’s right
to take steps to preserve evidence.

94. Ms. Pibalchon (Thailand) said that Thailand had no
objections to article 6 (first version), paragraph 1 (a), or to
article 10, paragraph 1, in the “Further option”. She supported
the view expressed by New Zealand that suspension by the
Security Council of the Court’s proceedings should depend on a
Council resolution.

95. Ms. Wilmshurst (United Kingdom of Great Britain and
Northern Ireland) said that her delegation strongly supported
enabling the Security Council to make referrals, but agreed that
that should be under Chapter VII of the Charter of the United
Nations, and that the square brackets in the second sub-
paragraph (b) of article 6 in the “Further option” should be
deleted. She was somewhat puzzled by the fears expressed by
some delegations that such referrals would interfere with the
independence of the Court simply because the Security Council
was a political bady: no one had accused the Security Council
of interfering with the independence of the Tribunals for the
former Yugoslavia and Rwanda, which had already been in
operation for some time.

96. Conceming article 10 in the “Further option”, she would
favour removal of the brackets around “for a period of twelve
months” in paragraph 2, but was not sure whether the reference
to Chapter VII was appropriate, since the Council could be

acting in accordance with its various responsibilities under the
Charter.

97. Mr. Matsuda (Japan) said that the relationship between
the Security Council and the Court was a key issue. Since
crimes within the Court’s jurisdiction would be the most serious
crimes of international concem, and since the Council was the
principal organ responsible for maintaining intemational peace
and security, it was right that the latter should have a role under
the Statute. The Council should have the power to refer a
situation to the Court, and in his view the consent of the parties
concerned should not be required.

98. It would not be appropriate to prohibit totally the Court
from exercising its functions with respect to a case simply
because that case had already been taken up by the Security
Council. In that regard, Japan basically supported the text in
article 10 in the “Further option”.

99. Ms. Daskalopoulou-Livada (Greece) said that she had no
objection to the Council referring cases to the Court provided that
it was acting under Chapter VII of the Charter of the United
Nations. In regard to acts of aggression, she would favour the first
two paragraphs of option 2 for paragraph 7 in the first version of
article 10, including the reference to a time period and to the need
for a formal and specific decision by the Council. She could not
support the proposed article 10 in the “Further option”.

100. Mr. Dabor (Sierra Leone) said that he would have no
objection to paragraph 1 of article 10 in the “Further option”,
but considered that the period of 12 months provided for in
paragraph 2 was far too long: he proposed that the period be
reduced to six months. He endorsed the Belgian proposal for
preservation of evidence during such a period, and thought that
witnesses, too, should be protected.

101. Further clarification was required concerning paragraph 2.
The text as it stood would cover all crimes and not only the
crime of aggression; it would be very dangerous, particularly
if proceedings had already begun. There should also be a
provision allowing a request for suspension of proceedings to be
renewed once only.

102. Mr. Choi Tae-hyun (Republic of Korea) said that his
delegation could accept paragraphs 1, 2, 3, 5 and 6 of the first
version of article 10. It favoured option 2 for paragraph 4, and
option 2 for paragraph 7, without paragraph 2 of that option. In
paragraph 3 of that option, the period of time in question should
be specified.

The meeting rose at 6 p.m.

210



